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PREFACE

At a meeting of the South Renfrew Farmers’ Institute on the
eve of the birth of the twentieth century, Mr. A. A. Wright, who
had then been for thirty years one of the town's most active and
public-spirited citizens, and who was destined within a year to
be the Riding's representative in the Parliament of Canada, sug-
gested the commencement of an historical record of Renfrew,
with a yearly synopsis of the chief events in its affairs. The sug-
gestion took root in the mind of the writer, at that time the pub-
lisher of The Renfrew Mercury; and in the first issue of that
paper in 1900 appeared a synopsis of the events of 1899 and
also the announcement that the editor had in view the prepara-
tion of a history of Renfrew in its early days; and had asked for
the assistance of Mr. Henry Airth, Sr., in its compilation.

The work of collecting historical data was diligently pursued
during the year, and in The Mercury of October 26th there was
further announcement that the historical record would be begun
in that paper's columns early in 1901, and that the editor was
having the help of Messrs. Henry and David Airth, Robert Mc-
Laren, John Smith, W. N. Faichney, Joseph Gravelle, Mrs. Eady, "
Sr., and other of the older residents.

The first instalment of the promised Story appeared in the
issue of The Mercury of February 8, 1901, with this introduc-
tory note:

“In this story of the early settlement and growth of Renfrew, it
has as a matter of course been found difficult to fix actual dates for
some of the events long past. Indeed it has been a matter of surprise
to the writer to find how accurate is the memory of the Messrs. Airth
—from whom most of the story of the earliest days has been ob-
tained—and how well they have been able to trace back events and
locate them with considerable exactness from concurrent happenings.
A chief concern with them has been to get everything of moment as
correct as possible, a commendable feature in historians; and if it so
be that any reader finds inaccuracy in date or happening which can

be proven, both the historians and the writer will be glad to have the
matter brought to their attention, that due correction may be made.”

The Story was continued in The Mercury by instalments for
a couple of years. Then, as the writer became absorbed in muni-
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cipal duties—having been elected Mayor of Renfrew for the
year 1901, and re-elected by acclamation in 1902 and 1903—
he had to relinquish, for the time being at least, the gathering and
transcribing of the Story. A few years later he invited Rev. Dr.
Campbell, who had retired from the active ministry after a resi-
dence in Renfrew of nearly forty years, to take up the duty of
historian, and the chapters from his pen will be found to be
charmingly told, with a kindly picturing of the old-timers he had
so intimately known.

Upon the death of Dr. Campbell—on Christmas day of 1907
—the original historian again took up the work of the Story, and
continued it for a time in the pages of The Mercury; until once
more caught in the time-exacting swirl of municipal politics.

Now, in 1919, having retired from business, with leisure to
again delve into history, the continuation of the Story is contem-
plated, but it has been decided to issue at once in book form so
much of the work as has hitherto appeared. That this would
some time be done had been the intention from the beginning;
and each week when the type of the Story was taken from the
newspaper columns it was “‘made up’’ into the form of book
pages, and 200 sheets printed in that style.

Both in its literary and typographical form, the writer is well
aware that this volume exhibits many imperfections, for which
the haste of newspaper work must be held responsible. The por-
tion written by Dr. Campbell excepted, the Story is not the
product of the pen of a leisurely historian; but rather the com-
pilation of a driven newspaper writer who, then in the prime of
life, had many other duties to distract his attention. Similarly in
its mechanical preparation there is apparent in some respects the
ephemeral character of the newspaper, rather than the “finish”
of book-printing. Commenced in hand-set type—each individual
letter placed in position by the contact of the human finger,—
the central portion was composed on the Thorne type-setting
machine, which placed the individual types or letters in proper’
order by mechanism; while the concluding pages were printed
from linotype slugs—all the letters cast in a line from a mold, a
modern invention which has revolutionized the newspaper indus-
try, one man operating the machine doing what five men wecre
accustomed to do in the days of ‘' hand composition.” It is
appropriate that note of this great invention should be made in
a history of Renfrew; because one of the four or five men inter-
ested in the development and marketing of the linotype, was
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Andrew Devine, scion of one of the pioneer Renfrew families,
and who became known in the capital of the United States as
one of the most proficient reporters for the Congressional Record.

But, with all its imperfections, it is hoped the Story will be
read with interest by many of the Renfrewites of later genera-
tions; and will be found useful in after years through having pre-
served touch with the pioneers and their works.

It is the writer's purpose to continue the history, and in an-
other volume to deal with the people who followed those whose
record is herein given, and with the steady advance the town and
district has made under the industry of the pioneers’ successors.
In this succeeding volume also there will have to be some looking
backward, for this present Story does not touch upon the estab-
lishment of the Church of England and Baptist congregations in
Renfrew; carries along the story of the Roman Catholic congre-
gation only to the beginning of the priesthood of Rev. Father
Rougier; does not record the founding and development of the
Separate School and Convent, nor the early history of some of
the influential fraternal societies. These omissions will be made

good in Volume I
W. E. SMALLFIELD.

Renfrew, October, 1919.



NOTES RESPECTING CERTAIN LOCATIONS
MENTIONED IN THE STORY

Written in the first place as a newspaper article, there are many
references in the Story to places as occupied by so-and-so at the time of
writing in 1901 to 1908 that may not be well understood by the people
of Renfrew in 1919, when this book is issued. For instance, on page 1
the residence of Allan Francis is referred to. That fine residence at the
north side of the town is in 1919 owned and occupied by F. D. Vickers.
McVeigh’s blacksmith shop, referred to on pages 2 and 10, was near the
foot of Main Street, and in 1919 is occupied by Mason & Donohue. John
Smith’s garden, also referred to on page 2, is at the head of Main Street,
directly opposite the Dominion House; having gone through several own-
erships since 1901. “Down towards the convent” was written on page 2.
The convent then was east of Main Street, where in 1919 stands the
residence of J. L. Murray, at the corner of Barr and Quarry Streets.
The convent in 1919 is on the west side of the town, on Bonnechere Street,
opposite the Collegiate Institute. “P. Dougall’s present property,” re-
ferred to on pages 3 and 11, has practically disappeared in 1919; the car-
riage shop, now gone, having been located on the east side of Main Street,
nearly opposite to Patrick Street; the Dougall residence near by being
owned in 1919 by A. E. Spooner. “The residences of S. McDougall and J.
Harris,” also referred to on page 3, are in 1919 owned by C. A. Dewey
and J. Church, between Renfrew Street and the C.P.R. station. “Bren-
nan’s store,” mentioned on pages 10 and 12, has also passed into other
hands. For some years it was owned by G. A. Ellis and in 1919 is owned
by the Renfrew Produce Co., managed by J. J. Tierney. “David Airth’s
stone house,” also referred to on pages 10 and 17, is in 1919 owned by
Robt. Steele, and, instead of standing alone in farm fields, is part of a
group of houses known as the Barnet sub-division, a development of war-
time industries in Renfrew. “Where Mr. Adam Lindsay did business in,”
mentioned on page 11, in 1919 is occupied by the Renfrew Journal. “The
Roberts planing mill” written of in 1901 is the property of the Renfrew
Manufacturing Co. in 1919, and stands across the road from Thos. A.
Low's office building at the foot of Main Street. “The rough-cast house”
owned by Wm. Hastings in 1901, mentioned on page 19, had been
brick-encased by 1919, and stands near the south end of the Creek bridge.
“S. Moffatt’s residence,” on page 19, is in 1919 occupied by Geo.
Thacker (on Opeongo Street); Mr. Moffatt having some years ago re-
moved to the lower end of Argyle Street. “The G. W. McDonald resi-
dence,” to which there is reference on page 78, stood at the corner of
Albert and Elgin streets, and in 1919 is occupied by J. MeN. Austin,
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Three Pioneer Settlers From Whom Many of the Facts of the
Early Portion of the Story of Renfrew Were Obtained

HENRY AIRTH, SR. DAVID AIRTH

ROBERT McLAREN
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SERGEANT HENRY AIRTH

The First Actual Settled Farmer in
what afterwards became the Town
of Renfrew.

FRANCIS XAVIER PLAUNT

One of Renfrew’s first Landowners.
A Wise Town-Builder, who gave
free the sites for most of the
town’s original! school and church
buildings and its first railway
station yards.

DAVID BARR, SR. JAMES O’CONNOR
One of the Pioneer Settlers, whose Who came to Renfrew in 1844, and
Family Homestead Farm just to who was respected and prosper-
the South of Renfrew still remains ous.
in the Barr family.
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FRANCIS FRENCH SINON O’GORMAN
The Kindly Patriarch of the French One of the Early Settlers of Ren-
family long connected with the frew and the First Man to Vote
history of Renfrew. when Renfrew became an organ-

ized Village in 1858.

WILLIAM LOGAN FELIX DEVINE
The Pioneer Woollen Manufacturcr A Sagacious Pioneer in Municipal
of Renfrew. Founder of Renfrew’s and Educational Affairs in Ren-

first Brass Band. frew County.
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THE FIRST VILLAGE COUNCIL

R. C. MILLS

Reeve

JOHN SMITH,

WILLIAM DICKSON

SAMPSON COUMBS
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THE EARLY TOWN CLERKS

HENRY BELLERBY

GEORGE ROSS ROBERT DRYSDALE

WILLIAM MACKAY JOHN McANDREW

Postmaster from 1864 to 1901, suc- Pioneer and Successful Merchant
ceeding George Ross
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RENFREW’S FIRST SCHOOL BOARD

JOHN BURNS JOHN McRAE

f’in;s’r‘ e

SAMUEL FRANCIS JOSEPH GRAVE™ LE

Dr. Evans and R. C. Mills were also members of the first Board cf
Education when Renfrew was organized as a village in 1858.
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ALEX. JAMIESON MARTIN L. RUSSELL
The Trusted, Jovial Citizen of the Pioneer Lumberman and Developer
1850—1870 Period. of Renfrew Industries.

DONALD STEWART DR. JOHN McNAB
For a long time Principal of Ren- A Man of Deep Sympathies, to
frew Public School. whom in Goshen Cemetery is

erected the first Public Monument
in Renfrew County.
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JOSEPH MAYHEW IRA MAYHEW
One of the first permanent Settlers; The First White Child Born in
father of the first white child Renfrew.

born in Renfrew.

J. A. JAMIESON JOHN McINNES

The Founder of Well-known Lime Pioneer Tanner and Son of
and Stone Industries. Temperance.
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THE HEADS OF RENFREW IN THE FIRST FIFTY
YEARS OF ITS MUNICIPAL ORGANIZATION

The above block of illustrations was published in the Jubilee Mercury
(of July 31, 1908), and hence covers a somewhat longer period of munici-
pal development than is treated in the letterpress of this volume. Two
photos are missing—those of John Munro, Jr.,, Reeve in 1861, and of
Felix Devine, Reeve in 1866. By error the engravers had placed some-
one else’s portrait than Mr. Devine’s as the fourth in the top row. Mr.
Devine’s portrait will be found elsewhere in this book.
Top Row—John Smith, James Airth, J. L. McDougall.
Second Row—W. Halpenny, Jas. Ward, W. N. Faichney, Dr. O’Brien.
Third Row—P. S. Stewart, Thos. Henderson, Edward Mackay (Dep-
uty Reeve), James Craig.
Fourth Row—James Clark, Allan C. Mackay, H. N. Moss, W. E.
Smallfield.
Fifth Row—F. M. Devine, Wm. Mills, John Mackay.






Pioneers of the 1840-1860 Period

THOS. B. MUIR

JOSHUA MURPHY JAS. H. WALFORD
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Men Whose Own Activities Were in the Period of 1850-1900
But Who Represent Pioneer Families

DAVID BARR, SR. JAMES STEWART

THOMAS NEW ANDREW FROOD



Men Whose Own Activities Were in Later Days
But Who Represent Pioneer Families

ROBERT GORDON

ROBERT McINTYRE, M.P.
Pioneer Merchant in Renfrew (in 1844) and M.P. in the
1860 Period.

3

ALEX. FERGUSON ABRAHAM FRASER
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P. S. STEWART A. A. WRIGHT

For Fifty Years Active in the Busi-
ness, Educational and Civic Affairs
of Renfrew, ex-M.P., Postmaster.
and who in 1899 Suggested the
Writing of the History of Renfrew.

Member of a Pioneer Family, Suec-
cessful Merchant for Half a Cen-
tury in Renfrew, and for Seven
Years Reeve of the Village.

ORANGE WRIGHT

Member of a Pioneer Family but
whose own kindly activities were
in a later period.



FHE FMRST SEFTLERS/

HE first appearance of the white
E man on the river afterwards
known as the Bornechere was
probably aboutthe year 1820.

He came for lumber. Skirting along
the shores of the Ottawa or *“Grand”
river, he entered the mouth of a
stream large enough to induce ex-
ploration. An almost sunless path of
water was that along which he
paddled ; for the evergreens formed
a dense wall along the sides of the
stream, and the lofty decidunous trees
—reaching out, as they will, to the
open and the light,—almiost met in a
network of foliage high above the
water. So, even at the noon hour, the
rays of the sun hardly penetrated to the
water course below. There were some
waterfalls or vapids atound which he
had to portage or carry his canoe ; but
on the whole the stream was so much
quieter, so much less tumultuous than
the neighboring river, which Howed
into the Ottawa some miles below—the
Madawaska—that, in time, the French
Canadians, who were the pioneers in
the lumbering industry, gave to it the
name Bonnechere—or ‘‘good river.”
As the lumbermen proceeded to work
along a river, to suit their own con-
venience they made a clearing, a place
for a shanty, and possibly a small gar-
den or farm. By some it is said that
Joseph Brunette was the first of the

lumbering jobbers to make a clear-
ance on the river at that point which
afterwards became Renfrew. While
Brunette was to somne extent entitled
to be known as the actual pioneer of
Renfrew—because he remained for
some years, and died here—there is
little doubt that the first man to make
a clearance was one Coyle, and that
the place where he felled the trees to
make an opening for his shanty was
in the rear of the house afterwards
erected by John Lorn MeDougall, and
in 1900 owned by Mrs E, Mackay.
Somewhere in rear of that house, but
on the west side of the gully which
runs between it and the vesidence of
Mr Allan Francis, was Coyle’s shanty
erected. He remained for only a
year or two, and then went back to
““the front.” A season or so after-
wards, probably in 1823 or 1824, Bru-
nette followed. He was spoken of as a
French-Canadian, but thongh he came
from Lower Canada he had some
Dutch in him. He was what was
known in those days as a lumber
squatter. Like Coyle, he had paddled
up the waters of the Bonnechere on
lumber jobbing intent. But while he
continued to give some attention to
this branch of industry, he settled
down as a farmer. He laid claim to
200 acres. Of this he cleared some 25
or 30 acres bhefore his death in 1832,
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when he was about 60 years of age.
He was the hrst to be laid away in
what is known as the McLaren ceme-
tery : a plot on the McLaren home-
stead farm, just to the south of the
town’s limits. He was a married man,
but had no family. His wife was a
smart, bright mulatto; it was said,
had been a *“play actress.” Brunette
built the first residence in Renfrew,
that is the first building that justified
that title. It was a sided, dove-tailed
log house, every stick of of it red pine,
and the shingles of white pine--
“shingles that were shingles,” made
by hand, and laid only four inches to
the weather. The house stood on
what is now the west side of Main
Street, nearly opposite the McDougall
homestead, and just a little further
down-street than where M1 McVeigh'’s
blacksmith shop is now located. The
house afterwards became an hotel;
managed at first by Peter Cameron ;
afterwards by one Vondette ; then by
John Munvo; and later still by Laur-
ence O'Reilly. This building was torn
down some time in the seventies. :
As will be gathered from what has
heen said em:lier, at the vime Brunette
made his clearance, all about him was
wooded land, except the few acres
that Coyle had cleared. On the east
side of what is now Main street, that
is, from the Doininion House down to-
watds the Convent and the river, the
trees were principally maple, elm, oak
and hasswood, It was a clean bush,
with very little underbrush. The
basswood trees averaged two feet or
more in diameter; the elms, sonie-
what less. Their average height
would be about 65 feet. There were
a few fine tall green pine just ahout
where the Dominion House now
stands, and in what now is Mr John
Sniith’s garden there was a fine grove
of pine and cedar. Centre town then
was what is known as an ‘*‘ash
swale,” it low wet spot of good land,
timbered by ash and oak. Where the
High School now stands there were
balsaras and spruce. The biggest oak
in the settlement was on the rise of

THE STURY OF RENFREW,

ground where the Separate School now
i, It came down in a storm. On what
is now known as ‘“T'homson’s Hill,” to
the south of the town, up between the
residence of Abram Fraser and the
Renfrew cemetery, there was the tin-
est hardwood grove in the neighbor-
hood : +beech, black birch and big
maples. Along the river bank, the
forest was mostly evergreen,—red
pine, spruce and cedar.

Brunette was practically monarch
of all this for a year or two, with un-
der his sway his wife and three hired
helpers—Antoine Beatichamp, An-
toine Descheau and Oliver Bruyere
(known to the aftercomers as Blair.)
They divided their time between lum-
ber jobbing, clearing about their
house and growiug a small patch of
potatoes.

About 1825 the first survey of the
township was made, an employee of
the Government, named Quiun, doing
the work in the township, which if
not then named Horton was so de-
signated very shortly afterwards. It
is supposed (according to Gardiner) to
have been so named after R. J. Wil-
mot Horton, an English M.P. who
was active in promoting emigration
to Canada abont that time.

About this same time, (1825) the
Scotch Line section of Lanark
county (either Bathurst or Elmsley)

gave Renfrew its next settler.
This was Thomas McLean. He
was a stone mason by trade;
but what is more to the point,

so far as Renfrew’s history is concern-
ed, is that he had a brother who was a
doctor, and this brother had served in
a professional capacity in the British
army and had received grants of land
in return for these services in the be-
half of his country. Part of this
grant was 400 acres in what was after-
wards to become the town of Ren-
frew. 1In order to hold it, the doctor
had to have settlement made upon it;
and so it came about that he gave it
to his brother Thomas—whether as a
gift outright or in return for some
consideration is not now known. One
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block of 200 acres extended from the
town line of Admaston to the second
line (or Main street) of Horton; and
the other from that to the third line.
In the other direction, the blocks. ran
from the Dominion House corner
down to the end of Patrick street, or
to the end of Mr P. Dougall’s present
property. - McLean at once proceeded
to have the land cléared; giving the
contract for the chopping down of
some fifteen acres of bush on the west
side of the second line to John Came-
ron, who came along from Glengarry
shortly after McLean himself; and a
contract of about the same size on the
east side of Main street he gave to
John Hall, who was one of three sail-
ors (the others being John Brill and
John Dale), who had come to this
country on a man-of-war, and had
drifted up the Ottawa on shantying
work. Hall built a little shanty for
himself, while he was at this work,
down near the small gulley-way that
runs across the town near the C.P.R.
station, the building being erected
somewhere in the plot between where
the residences of S. McDougall and J.
Harris now stand. McLean proposed
to settle here in good faith, and to
bring his family with him. So he
built a house in the rear of where Mr
N. Dean’s store now stands. It was
counted a ‘‘snug little shanty” in
those days. Of course it was formed
of logs, but was large: in fact, was
practically a double house. And as he
was a mason himself, he had the
““know-how " to make it comfortable
in many ways. He built his barn a
little to the east, nearer Main street
(about where Mr A. Gravelle’s Main
street property now is situated.) This
barn was afterwards occupied for a
time by Messrs Archibald Thompson
and W. N. Faichney as a blacksmith
shop: sometime in the Forties. McLean
put in one crop. It was fall wheat,
and it rusted so badly that he simply
nsed it for thatching his barn. Per-
haps it was partly this failure, but
more likely it was the fact that he
had a family of young children abont

him and saw little opportunity for
having them educated if he remained
in this vicinity, that led him to con-
template returning to the Perth sec-
tion. Fortune favored him in his de-
sire for the change. McNab town-
ship bad been settled a short time pre-
viously to his coming to Renfrew,
and the old Chief McNab was in the
habit of going down to Montreal to
seek to induce the newly arrived
Scotch emigrants to come this way.
One time he secured some ten families.
Among these was that of Sergeant
Henry Airth, who had been for four-
teen years in the Ordnance Depart-
ment of the Royal Horse Artillery at
Rutherglen, near Glasgow, and who
had come to Canada with his wife and
seven children, to seek a home in
which his young people might have
more chance for prosperity than in
the congested old land. The Chief
secured his favorable attention, and
he came along to McNab township ;
taking up a farm in that section
which is now known as Goshen. But
there was friction between the old
Chief and the settlers, and matters
did not go as smoothly in the district
as Sergt. Airth desired. So he was
led to think of change. He had be-
come acquainted with Thomas Mec-
Lean through Jas. Roffey, an old
drummer in the British army, who
had come to Canada from Jamaica
and had received his discharge at Que-
bec. In one of the Sergeant’s neigh-
borly visits to McLean, it became a
matter of conversation that the latter
wished to go back to Perth;and as
Mr Airth also desired to leave that
part of McNab where he had been lo-
cated for fifteen months, in due course
an arrangement was made by which
the Sergeant was to have possession
of two hundred acres of McLean’s
property at a rental of £24 a year. At
the same time, McLean rented the
other 200 acres to Joseph Mayhew,
who had also come into the district by
this time—from Chateauguay—on
lumbering intent; but who, two or
three years after his arrival,e thonght
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he saw an opportunity to settle down
to better purpose: meantime having
married Miss Charlotte Hanniwell, of
Nepean. He rented his portion of the
farm for £20 a year; the difference in
the amount paid by him and by Sergt.
Airth being due to the fact that the
latter bad a better house, and in it a
stove and a chest of drawers, and out
of it a few head of cattle extra; the
cattle being included in the rental
price. Sergt. Airth moved up from
his McNab property in the winter,
some time in January, 1829; and
brought along his wife and seven
children — Agnes, afterwards Mrs
David Barr, sr.; Elizabeth, afterwards
Mrs Angus Melnnes ; Henry, David
aud Robert (the two latter twins);
Marion, afterwards Mrs Wm. Jamie-
son ; and Catherine, afterwards Mrs
Alex. Jamieson. William, James and
Mary (afterwards Mrs Robert Mec-

Laren) were born in this country : the
two boys on the McLean property ;
Mrs MclLaren on the Airth homestead,
to the east of the town.

Mr Mayhew came to his farm in
March, 1829, bringing his wife and
his son Joseph. They took up resi-
dence in the building which had been
erected by John Hall, previously
spoken of, in the ‘centre of the land,
down near where the C.P.R. station
now is.

The Airth portion of the McLean
farm ran across from the 1st Conces-
sion to the 3rd, and from the Domin-
ion House corner down to nearly the
Post Office corner. Mr Mayhew’s
farm also ran from the Ist to the 3vd
Concession, and from the Post Office
down to Patrick street or to the end
of Mr P. Dougall’s property. Brun-
ette held from that point down nearly
to the river bank.



HOW THE PEOPLE FARED IN 1830.

So it was that in the year 1830,
what is now the town of Renfrew
had three property-owners—Joseph
Brunette, Jos. Mayhew, and Henry
Airth. And a census would have
shown a population of 21; composed
of Joseph Brunette and his wife and
two helpers; Joseph Mayhew and
his wife and two children (for his
family had been increased by a son,
named Ira, who was the first white
child born in Renfrew, and still lives:
a resident of Manitoba) and two helpers
or ‘“‘hired men:” and Sergt. Henry
Airth and his wife and eight- children
—(for his family circle, too, had been
increased by another son, William,
the second white child born in Ren-
frew, and deceased in 1897)—and Mr
Roftfey, who worked with him.

The crop put in that year by the
Airth family was a few acres of spring
wheat, a little oats, ten o1 eleven
acres of Indian corn, and soue pota-
toes. The crop was put in with hoes.
David dropped the first potatoes—
they were of the *“Cup” variety—on
the plot which had been cleared unear
the corner of Main and Opeongo
streets, where the Wright block now
stands. The peas and corn were drop-
ped on the soil which covered the
rocks that of late years have been so
rapidly eaten up by the Jamieson
lime-kilns, in rear of the Roman Cath-
olic and Presbyterian churches. At
- that time, the rock surface outcropped
at only a few points; and over most
of it there were ten or twelve inches
of fine soil. The exposure of the soil
to the sun through the felling of the
trees, the cultivation of the thin strata
of earth, and the washing of some of

it into the fissures of the rock, in the
course of a few years cleared the soil
completely off the face of the rocks
and left them in that bare condition
in which they have appeared for so
many years since, that many have
been sceptical when told that crops at
one time grew on that forbidding
looking hill.

The marketof the three farmers
was of course limited. The only pur-
chasers of the produce grown, were
the lumber johbers. For the first few
years, any buying the families did
was at Perth, to which town the men
had to trudge on foot ; carrying their
loads on their backs. Their milling
business for the first year was done at
Pendergrast’s on the Quebec side of
the river, nearly opposite the mouth
of the Bonnechere. The grain was
loaded into canoes at Clear Point,
which even then was cleared of trees,
and from there was paddled down the
Bonnechere, portaged around the
First Chute, out into the Ottawa and
across the Chats (pronounced ““ Shaw )
Lake to the mill on the other side.
The miller was paid by toll: one-
twelfth being his share.

Not over luxuriously did these pio-
neers live. The lirst season or two,
‘“ totties ” (potatoes) were their prin-
cipalitem of diet. An occasional deer,
or a string of fine suckers or black
bass from Hurds’ Lake, provided
them with * meat” for the first year
ortwo. After that, one yoke of steers
was killed ; and soon after that, again,
sheep and hogs were imported. Mess
Pork was sometimes purchased from
the shantymen as they passed along.
Dear meat it was, too. Often, 20c. a
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Ib. The liquids that so many at the
present time seem to find necessary as
a part of their daily sustenance—tea
and coffee—these pioneers had to do
without. It is true thatin the Airth
family they did from time to time seek
to get a pound or two of the real
Hyson or Twankqua tea; but this
was sacredly reserved for the old
grandmother, who had been accustom-
ed to it in the old land. $1.50 a pound
they paid for it, when they did get it.
But though the pioneers denied them-
selves of the imported luxuries, they
endeavored to provide themselves
with substitutes. Tea they made, of
a kind, through steeping maiden-hair
or Labrador ferns in boiling water ;
or mint, sometimes; or summer
savory; and occasionally, hemlock
boughs, though this decoction was
usually used as a medicine. Another
medjcated tea was made at times from
the “ crockles” of the maple—a skin-
like substance, somewhat resembling
moss, which exudes from the maple,
and has a considerable amount of
nutrition in it. Of these, the Labra-
dor fern made the tea that tasted the
best. Sometimes a few pounds of re-
fined sugar were brought in from the
front as a luxury; but the staple
sweetening was the sugar made from
the maple trees. Loaf sugar cost
them 25¢. a pound.

‘While the town of the future has
thus slowly grown to a population " of
twenty-one by the year 1830, and with
the addition of one or two wore babies,
remained as it was until 1834 or 1835;
the country around it had been grad-
ually filling up. It has been mention-
ed that the old Chief McNab had, -on
one of his trips to Montreal, induced
ten families of newly arrived immi-
grants to come up to the settlement
he had organized in McNab township.
Besides Sergt. Airth’s family there
were in this group, John MeclInnes,
Alex. Stewart (bachelor), Jas. Wilson,
Andrew Hamilton, sr., Andrew Ham-

ilton, jr., Daniel Melntyre (afterwards -

known as Flat Rapids Dan). the

Browns, a Perston (who returned
home to the old land), and one Ander-
son, who did not long remain in the
neighborhood. Most of these settled
to the south-east of where Renfrew
now is and some fifteen or twenty
miles away. Somewhat nearer the
future town—or about what has since
been variously known as McGregor’s
Corners, or Goshen or Carswell P.O.,
—where Sergt. Airth had first settled,
he had three fawilies for neighbhors—
those of Peter Mc¢Millan, John McDer-
mid, and Duncan Campbell, all from
Perthshire of the old land. But the
land imimediately surrounding the
future town, even that to the south,
had not been taken up. A good many
Scotch people who had come out to
Canada early in the ’20s had settled
in Lanark, Bathurst and Ramsay
townships in the Bathurst District;
county lines not then being laid.
And they had been disappointed.
The land was poorer than they had
expected. Dissatisfied, they were led
to push on for -something better.
Among those who had not fonnd ail
he had expected was Robert Forrest,
who had come out from Lanarkshire
and settled in the Lanark township of
the new country in 1821. He deter-
mined to look for a location of more
promise, and petitioned the Govern-
ment to the effect that the land he
was on was s0 poor that.he could not
make on it a decent living, and asked
the privilege of ‘being allowed to lo-
cate on an equal acreage in the new
township of Horton, where it was
told to him that the land: was better
adapted to farming. His petition was

granted. In 1827 he came on to the
Bonnechere, and called on Sergt.
Airth for advice. Together they

looked over the property on the Se-
cond Line which afterwards became
the Forrest homestead. Mr Forrest
himself took up 100 4cres where Mr
Samuel Forrest now lives, and his two
sons, William and Robert, also took
up 100 acres each (being the proper-
ties now occupied by Joseph Knight
and John Stewart.



- THE COMING OF THE SETTLERS. °

Next year, 1828, Thomas Costello
appeared on the scene. Originally
from Ireland, he had, after a short
stay in Quebec, settled in Perth ; but
ina year or two came further into
the . woods, prospecting. He settled
on the land ever since farmed by him-
self and his descendants onthe 4ith
line.

In 1830, Bruyere (or Blair) who had
been ,working for Brunette, located
on,the land to the south-west of the
town, where Mr Robert Carswell’s
farm now is. He made a clearance,
built his shanty, and brought his fam-
ily from L’Assomption two or three
years afterwards.

- The next. settler was James Stew-
art, who came from Sterlingshire dir-
ect to this section. He picked out
100 acres on the 1st Concession, where
the John McRae mill was at one time,
and where the John Farquharson
farm now is. He was the father of
Alexander and John, (of Horton),
Donald (of Renfrew), Robert (of Brom-
iey). Janes (of Pembroke), and of Mrs
Reid, of ,Grattan; of Mrs Ward and
Mrs Eady (of Renfrew), and of
Mrs McVean (of Pembroke.) When
Mr and Mrs Stewart arrived in
Renfrew only two of tbe family had
been born, Alex. and John. The
rest were Canadian born. The family
slept their first night in Renfrew in
the Airth home. This was about the
year 1830.

Peter McGregor came about the
same time. He was from Beckwith
or Drammeond, and settled on the 5th
line. His was & 100 acre farm, also;
and his grand-children are still on it,
and have added to the acres. X

John Forrest, sr., was the next im-
migrant. He was a younger brother
of Robert, and came direct from the
old land to McNab. on the verge of
the Horton town line. He picked on
the land ‘where Mr David Blane now
is. He had two unmarried sons, Sam-
uel and Andrew,

About the same time came John
McIntyre. He took up the land
known afterwards for a great many
years as ¢ Allan McNab’s.” McIuntyre
had made a clearance and built a
shanty. But he died very soon after
from quinsy, and for a year or two
the property was vacant.

Peter McIntyre, a brother, came on
the same vessel to Canada, and took
up the farm now known as the Me-
Laren homestead, now occupied by
Mr John B. McLaren, a mile south of
the town.

In the same vessel there came an-
other family of McIntyres, from
Perthshire—Gregor, Duncan and Johnp
and several sisters, as well as their
mother, the father having died in the
old land. They were not relatives of
John and Peter, but were friends and
had been neighbors in the old land.
They first went to Beckwith, where
they had ncquaintances ; but did not
care for that section of country, and
came on, following the other MclIn-
tyres into Renfrew. Even here they
were not thoronghly satisfied; and
determined before locating permanent-
ly to investigate Western Ontario.

John, of the one family, and Gregor,

of the other, started off on a pilgrim-
age westward, on foot, making their
forty miles a. day. However, the
west to them presented no greater
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attractions than the east, to which
they returned. In the meantime,
Duncan had located on the farm
which is still the property of his son

Duncan; and Gregor went in with
him in working it for some time: a

few years afterwards purchasing the
property which had been taken up
by Squire Joshuna Ritchie, and which
is now farmed by Mr Gregor Mclntyre.

Other settlers of this time were the
Martins—William, Alexander, John
and Thomas. They had been in Dal-
housie, Lanark connty ; and first came
this way prospecting, and then came
to farm. But they all had a good
business trait in their composition.
They did more than farm. They did
some lumber-jobbing. ‘¢ Kept store.”
Made and sold potash. And prosper-
ed.

All these had practically located be-
fore 1832.

And now to go back to the town—
or the town that was to be—for a
time. Brunette, the original settler,
died in 1832. His widow and his bro-
ther Antoine continued to work the
farm for a year or two; and then
went over to the north side of the
river, starting the farin which after-
wards became the Thomas New home-
stead. Brunette’s home, being near
the river, had been used for a stopping
place ; practically was tie first hotel.
Antoine kept it for the same purpose,
and when he and the widow inoved
over the river, it fell into the hands
of Peter Cameron, who made it more
distinctively an hotel. He had the
west side of the property. The east
side, or the property on the east side
of the concession line or main street,
was occupied by Antoine Beauehawp,
who had been with Brunette.
Trouble there was from time to time
over the title of the land ; one Quinn,
a surveyor, having claimed it.

In the fall of 1833, Sergt. Airth also
made a move. He had rented the Mec-
Lean property for five years; and al-
thongh he remained on this farm in
what is now the heart of the town
for that length of time, he had mean-

time ‘“located ” on the 200 acres be-
tween the 2nd and 3rd concessions,
which is now the homestead occupied
by Mr David Airth, and where the
Sergt. grew the first two crops while
still living on the older farm. His
companion and helper, Roffey, at the
same time had located the adjoining
200 acres, to the south ; which after-
wards became the Barr homestead,
now occupied by Mr Wm. Barr and
his son, David, Jr. By this time,
Xavier Plaunt had come to the neigh-
borhood to work for Joseph Mayhew.
He was a faithful and pushing young

“man, and soon after coming had be-

come the possessor of the Blair farm
on the hill (now Robert Carswell‘s)
—a team of horses forming a part of
the purchase price. When he heard
that Sergt. Airth was to leave the
McLean farm, it entered the young
man Plaunt’s head that he would
like to get the place. So he journey-
ed to Perth to see what arrangements
lie conld make to get the farm from
McLean. He was successful in his
mission. He and Mr McLean agreed
upon a price for the farm ; the Blair
farm being taken by Mr McLean in
part payment. And the young man
was successful in more than making
a bargain for the land. He became
acquainted with McLean’s daughter
Jeannet, and though at that time
Xavier ‘“had not mmneh English ”—
that is to say, had not great command
of words that the young lady eould
understand, what he could say made
such an impression on the young
lady that in the course of a year or
two she consented to return to Ren-
frew to become the wife of the young
French-Canadian farmer, and one who
was to have a material part in devel-
oping the place into a centre of pop-
ulation. Joseph Mayhew remained
on his part of the village farm for only
a year or two after the Airths left to
take possession of their new farm ;
and then their 100 acres also fell into
Mr Plaunt’s hands.

So that in 1834 or 1835, the original
three farms covering most of the
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ground where the town now stands
were occupied by Xavier Plaunt (who
was on the farms occupied by the
Airths and Mayhews in 1830), and by
Peter Cameron and Antoine Beau-
champ (who were on the Brunette
farm near the river.)

In either 1833 or 1834, there was
gnite an immigration to the neighbor-
hood. Among the newcomers were
David Barr, Wm. Jamieson, and
John Forrest, Jr., all from Lanark-
shire, Scotland. Barr and Jamieson
were unmarried. Forrest, who was a
son of the John Forrest who had come
ont a year or two hefore, veceived the
name Sunnyside Forrest from the plea-
sant appearance of  his hillside farm
(now occupied by Win. Pulse), and was
a married man, He and David Barr
at once purchased from Roffey the
farm now known as the Barr home-
stead (under the shadow of Thomson’s
hill), and started to work it in part-
nership; also taking up some lots in
Bagot and Admaston townships.

Some of the land in the neighbor-
hood had fallen into the hands of the
pioneer snrveyors of the district. The
Devlins were among these surveyors,
and located on property near the
river. In 1833, they sold this land to
James and Williimm Gibbons, who
came from Drumninond, where
they had been farming for several
years. The land they settled on is
now mostly owned by Mr John B.
Gibbons. George Gibbons, a younger
brother, came with them, and for a
time lived with William.

Thomas Knight, an old soldier, also
came from Drummond about the
same time. He was a married man,
with a family of ten children; and
settled on the north part of the Cos-
tello  property. Another family
which settled to the east about this
time was that of Win, Richards, who
came originally fromn the old country,
to Draummond, then settled in MceNab
for a time, afterwards locating where
the stone house of Mr John B. Gib-
bons now is, and finally moving to

the part of the township on the north
side of the river.

Duncan Ferguson, afterwards for
many years the teacher in the dis-
trict, came from Drummond at the
same time as the Gibbons and Rich-
ards farmilies.

William Jamieson, swho had come
to this country with David Barr and
Sunnyside Forrest, did not remain long
in the neighborhood at the outset. He
went to the front, to Drummond, but
after a few years returned, and took up
the lot now owned by Robert Leitch
and bought the adjoining lot from Guy
Seeley. Before Sergt. Airth left his
village farm in 1833, John Campbell,
John Bremner, George Cardiff, and
Avrchibald Patterson had become the
pioneers in what was afterwards to
become the well-settled township of
Admaston. They first prospected and
located on the lands that they thought
would be good, and in the course
of a vear or two returned with
their families. The Browns, Sulli-
vans, and Groves families came up in
to Admaston shortly afterwards,

About this time, too, the settlement
commenced to thicken on the north
side of the river. It will be remem-
bered that the widow of Antoine
Brunette had crossed the river and
made a clearing. This was about 1833;
and some time in that or the follow-
ing year William Burton came into
the locality from Drummond. Abont
the same time came Duncan Fergu-
son (father of Mr Alex. Ferguson, of
Renfrew), who commenced to clear
what of late years has been known as
the Baker Smith farm. Mr Ferguson
remained right along, but Mr Burton
went back to the front for a year or
so, and then returned to Horton. He
was a widower and bronght with him
his two daughters and a son. He
settled on what has ever since been
the Burton homestead, descending to
his son William, and now the home
of the latter’s son George. Guy Seeley,
an U. E. Loyalist, was an early settler.
He worked in Renfrew in 1830 or 1831,
and was the first settler on what
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afterwards became the Jamiseon
homestead. Guy was married to a
daughter of the late Jacoh New, an
Englishman, who had worked with
Capt. Bell at a sawmill the latter had
erected at the First Chute, but died
soon after coming to the country. His
widow and family moved on np the
river in 1833 or 1834, and settled on
what has since been the Jas. New
homestead ; the several sons hewing
out good farms of their own.

In 1837 came the immigration
from Goulbourn and Huntley. Robert
Eady, then known as Junior, (and
father of Mr Geo. Eady, Jr..) and
Wim. Burwell were the pioneers of
this party. They came in 1837; and in
the following year the father, Robert
Eady, sr.,—an old soldier-~came along
with his other sons George, John,
Thomas, Richard, William and James.
Then in rapid succession came the
Dunlops—John, Galriel, James, Wil-
liam and Robert, and their father,
bed-ridden and blind at this time,
John Richardson, John Vance, Eze-
kiel Cole, (also an old soldier), David
McQuitty, Francis Humphries, Archi-
bald Leitch, Frank Edwards. Alex.
Smith, Wm. Smith, Samuel Smith.
Jas. Lynch, Samuel Mason, Henry
Williams, Wm. Lewis, John McCal-
Inm, William and Robert Hobbs,
Michael O’Neill, Thos. O’Neill, Edward
Farrell, the Gorbys, Prices, Paynes and
Jas. Johnston. Most of these families
had come before 1840: and most of
them were the pioneers of the families
whose descendants are still weli-
known residents of that portion of
Horton township. The Hobbs moved
over into Pontiac. Williams went to
Hastings county. The McConeghys,
McAllisters, Clarkes, Browns and
O’Neills had all settled in that part of
the township along the river, down
near Bounechere Point, early in the
303. One Hart, also in the early 30s,
made a clearance in the township
near the future village and town, but
he went away and never returned,

after selling his crop to Guy Seeley.

While the country round about was
thus filling up, that portion which
afterwards became the village and
then the town, had also been thicken-
ing up with people. It is probable
that thie population had grown from
the 21 which it was in 1830 to 42 in
1840. These were - Antoine Beau-
champ, wife, daughter and hired
helper, who lived in a shanty near to
the spot where Mrs E. Mackay’s resi-
dence now is; Peter Cameron, wife,
three children and a man, who lived
in the Brunette house, near what is
now MecVeigh’s blacksmith shop; X.
Plaunt, wife, child and man, who lived
in the house built by John Hall, near
the C.P.R. station locality ; Joseph
Mayhew, wife, seven children and
two men, living in & house Mr May-
hew had built on the hill south of the
town, where **Granny” McDougall lived
for so many years in the 1870—19500
period ; Sergt. Airth, and wife, and
his family of nine, who lived in a
house on the creek side, near where
the Canada Atlantic railroad now
runs, and south of Mr David Airth’s
present stone house ; Louis Fremean,
who had been with Beauchamp for
sonie time, and who had acquired the
three acres of a mill site reservation
alongside the Creek, including the
house where Smith’s sasvmill and tan-
nery now is, and who lived with his
wife and his brother-in-law Casimir in
a shanty about on the spot where the
British hotel was afterwards located ;
Peter Portuguis, a carpenter, and his
wife, who had settled on the corner
near the Creek, where D. Brennan’s
store is to-day; and John Berlanguet,
also a handy man and carpenter, who
with his wife had settled ou what was
afterwards known as the James Cars-
well farm; and lived in a4 house erect-
ed near where the Reyuolds home-
stead has so long been located, at the
corner of James and Opeongo streets.

These then were the people of Ren-
frew in 1840,



1840—1850.

In our last we placed the population
of Renfrew—or at least .that portion
of the township of Horton which was
afterwards to become Renfrew—at 42
souls. Soon after that it commenced
to show signs of becoming a centre of
population. It was sometime about
the year 1840 that the first store was
established by John Lorn Mc¢Dongall,
father of John Lorn McDougall,
present anditor-general of Canada,
and of Samuel Mc¢Dougall, still a cit-
izen of the town. The pioneer Me-
Dougall was a Highlander who had
been in the service of the Hudson Bay
Jompany in the Northwest. He had
lived for a time at Golden Lake, deal-
ing with the Iudians as a far-trader;
and was a linguist in several Indian
tongues, as well as in the Gaelic; and
had a good deal of the natural orator
in his composition. His first venture
was in a little outbuilding of the
Beauchmnp property, but he was soon
in a large log-building of his own, a
few yards south of where Mr P.
O’Reilly’s residenice now stands, He
did unot long enjoy a monopoly in
trade. A young man, Robert Mcln-
tyre, who had been ““ keeping store”
in Pakenham in partnership with the
father of Mr Wm. Russell, until
lately a prominent merchant in Arn-
prior, was of an active disposition,
and took part in political affairs. In
the course of his visits on political
business to Renfrew, he formed the
conclusion that there was room for a
profitable business here for him as
well as for My McDougall, and in the
aatumn of 1844 he established himself

for a

_ness.

in a building which stood in rear of
My P. Dougall’s carriage shop of to-
day. This building had been erected
Roman Catholic church or
chapel: but there is some donbt
whether it had ever been used for that
purpose : there was no regularly estab-
lished priest here then at all events.
Mr McIntyre quickly drew a thriving
trade, and in the course of a few years,
probably about 1848, started to build a

Jlarge stone store ap the corner where

My Adam Lindsay to-day does busi-
Part of the original stone
building remains standing within the
walls of the block that now houses the
Bank of Ottawa and the A. Lindsay
store. Meantime, in 1845, Williaun N.
Faichuey and Archibald Thomson had
come—the first from Perth; and the
latter from Bathurst—and had started
business as blacksmiths in the barn of
the McLean property, about where
Dean’s store stands in 1900. About
the same time William Dickson, who
had come from Beckwith first to Me-
Nab, decided to make the growing
village his headgnarters. He had
been in the habit of ‘‘ whipping the
cat”’—that is, travelling from farm-
house to farm-house, mending and
making shoes. It seemed to him that
Renfrew would become a central
point, and so he bought a lot from
Xavier Plaunt, and built his log place
of business where The Mercury Office
now stands. The Chinese laundry of
to-day -occupies part of the original
building. The permanent location of
the blacksmith and shoemaker having
marked progress, the tailor was the
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next to appear on the scene. He was
George Bonnington, who came from
Galashields, Scotland, direct to Ren-
frew. He boarded at first with Win.
Dickson, and then, as he did a thriv-
ing trade, he decided to build for him-
self. He bought a lot and erected the
stone house, now alongside St. An-
drew’s church, known as the Jamie-
son home, and now occupied by Mr
George Thacker, whose wife is a
daughter of My Alex. Jamieson, who
succeeded Bonnington in the tailoring
business.

1t will be noticed that the upper
part of the town was growing the
most rapidly. That was in large
measure due to the wise and public-
spirited land policy of Xavier Plaunt.
He recognized the fact that it meant
the building of a town, with the con-
sequent increase in the value of his
own property, to get the newcomers
located as quickly and closely togeth-
er as possible. So he induced settle-
ment by selling lots at a moderate
price. He did more than that. Tf a
church or school were projected, he
donated the land for it readily and
heartily. He gave free sites for the
school, for the Old Kirk and Free
Church and Methodist and Roman
Catholic churches, and, as will be re-
membered by the residents of
later years, Mr Plannt gave the first
railway in Renfrew most of the land
it needed for station and yards ata
nominal figure.

.

In our previous chapter we depicted
the mercantile growth of the place
which was now growing beyond a
cross roads, and of the establishment
of some of its pioneer industries be-
tween 1840 and 1848. And just here it
may be noted that our historians’
memory of the exact order of the
coming of the growing number of
settlers is not so clear as it was of the
earlier but fewer events of the devel-
opment of the neighborhood ; and it
may be that some other of the readers
of this newspaper story may be able to
supply dates and facts fixing the com-

-

ing of each pioneer more exactly. Mr
W. N. Faichney, it was noted last
week, came in 1845 ; and he has recol-
lection of there being here when he
came; James O’Connor (father of
Messrs James and Wm. O’Connor),
who lived near the Creek side, south
of where the Brennan store is to-day ;
Sampson Coumbs, living behind what
is now the British hotel ; John Munvo,
in a small hotel below Reilly’s hotel ;
Joseph Charbonneau, a carpenter,
who had his home abont where Wni.,
O’Connor’s store is to-day; Xavier
Plaunt, who had moved from the
Hall house to another erected on the
site of the Albion hotel; Joseph
Saddler, a miller, who ran the McRae
gristing mill, which was by this time
located on that part of the Creek a
mile or so south of the town which
was known for some years as McRae’s
Creek, then as Farquharson’s, and
now is Smith’s Creek. John Burns
came in 1847. Carpenter and cabinet-
maker was he by trade, genial, jolly,
ardent lover of Bobbie Burns, his na-
tional poet; and a man who took an
active part in many of the public af-
fairs of Renfrew in its village days.
He and W. N. Faichney made the first
waggon, sleigh and boggy ever man-
ufactured in Renfrew. They sold
their first buggy to Elias Moore, of
Admaston, and took an old horse in
part payment, Dr. Covswell, father
of Messrs Robert and Allan Carswell,
also came about this time. A good
doctor he was, too, as the story goes ;
a faculty which ran in the family, for
his brother was private physician to
the ruler of the Belgians, In 1848
came John Smith, a man of strong
parts, destined to play an active part
for many years in the municipal and
industrial life of Renfrew. He cmune
from Lanark, and bought the saw-
mill which Sampson Coumbs had
erected and which stands on the same
site to-day, though the same sticks of
timber may not all be in it. In the
same year Mr Smith started to build
his tannery, which also still stands,
and which commenced operations in
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1849. In addition to those mentioned
above, Mr Swmith remembers that
there were here before him; his reia-
tive the late Donald Cameron (father of
Messrs W, A, and Dr .J. D. Cameron),
who kept a store in the building which
afterwards hecame the British hotel,
and having for his clerk, Duncan Fer-
guson, who had been the pioneer
teacher of the neighborhood, and who
had come to the section some years
previously. Williamm Watt, the great-
grandfather of the William of to-day,
had a foundry down near where the
Methodist church is in 1901. Duncan
McKerracher, a carpenter, had his
home on the lot upon which to-day
stands Millar’'s confectionery store.
Just south of this was Wm. Dickson’s
shoe shop, hitherto referred to. John
Poff, who was a teamster drawing
material for the McIntyre store, lived
on what is now the Kearney lot. He
still lives in one of the rear townships
of this or Hastings county, and oc-
casionally visits the scene of his early
labors. John Burns was just above
him, in what is now the Eady pro-
perty. The McIntyre store was
slightly further up street, with Faich-
ney & Thompson just above them,
again., Over on the west side of the
street, in the little roughcast house
which still stands below Pedlow’s
store, lived John Churchill, cooper.
Afterwards, John Burns became pos-
sessor of this property. Across the
Creek, that is on the south side
of it, the Mayhews were domiciled—
Charles, Joseph and Edward—be-
ween Thomson’s hill and the village,
Baptiste Beaudry lived on the Robert
Carswell farm of to-day, and which
then reached over to the concession
line where Mr D. Bar1’s residence now
is. Jeremiah Lynch, who still lives, a
resident of Admaston, and John
*O’Dea, father of the members of the
family of that name living in Ren-
frew and Admaston to-day, both as-
sisted in the building of the McIntyre
stone store, and both lived in houses
somewhere near the present residence
of Mr A. Barnet. Another resident

of the south end was an old British
soldier named Blair, a rollicking gen-
ius, who resided in a house located
somewhere in tbe plot which is now
Mr A. A. Wright’'s garden. The
Methodist mninister—either Brownell
or West—a little man who had a
strong fancy for a good dog and «a fast
horse, and who was counted a good
neighbor, also lived somewhere near
the Creek-side, across from Mr O’Con-
nor’s. Peter Mayhew and Nulbeir
Jourdin lived at the western end of
the town, in the neighborhood of
what is now the K. & P. and the
Canada Atlantic *‘diamond.” Flem-
eau (not Fremean as we had it pre-
viously, he who had been the first
owner of the three acres of mill site
and water-power at the Creek, selling
to Sampson Coumbs, and he to John
Smith), and Casimir had moved down
town to the river-side .

Another who was afterwards to be
a prominent resident came about
this time—John McAndrew, who
came to Canada from Scotland in
1842, and five years afterwards located
in Renfrew as clerk for Jobn Lorn
McDougall, then became clerk for
Robert McIntyre, and finally estab-
lishing a business for himself. Jas.
Dougherty, who lived about where
the Roberts planing mill is to-day,
was also here then, an employee on
Mr McDougall’s farm.

In fixing upon the pioneers of the
1840-1850 period we find that we fail-
ed to locate one of the pioneer families
in an even earlier period. Janies Me-
Laren was one of the Scotchmen who
came to Renfrew connty in 1825 from
Perthshire, and settled in MceNab
township under the guidance of the
noted Chief Mc¢Nah, Bat, it will Le
remembered, there was considerable
rebellion against the authority the old
Chief sought to inflict upon the emi-
grants who had settled the township
at his instigation ; and among the inde-
pendent-minded men who would nof,
hend the neck hefore the autocratic
old Chieftain was James Mclaren.
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Just how long his disaffection was in
growing, at this date there is none to
tell, but it is known that on at least
one occasion he was sent at the head
of a delegation of the ruen of McNab
who were appealing against the
Chief’s acts to the Court sitting at
Perth. The farm in McNab upon
which Mr McLaren settled was that
fine place now occupied by Mr Donald
McLaren near Sand Point. But with
the growing friction with the Chief,
Mr McLaren cast his eyes about for a
less irritating place of abode; and he
purchased from one Ewan McCarthy,
of Pakenham, 100 acres of the farin on
the secoud line of Horton, about a
mile sonth of Renfrew’s southern
limits. He did not move to his new
property for some years; but perforn-
ed the regulation *‘settlement duties”
until 1837, when he moved up to this
Horton farm, which has ever since
been the home of the McLaren
family, descending on his death in 1860
to the eldest son Robery, and, on his
retirement to Renfrew town some
years ago, to his oldest son, John
B. Of the children of James Mec-
Laren : Mary, who died in Renfrew a
vear or two ago, was the eldest and
the only one born in Scotland. All the
others were Canadians—Robert, the
well-known citizen, for so many years
Secretary of the South Renfrew Agri-
cultural Society and holding other ve-
sponsible positions; Elizabeth (the
late Mrs Alex. Stewart, of Horton);
Donald, now on the original farm in
McNab township ; Margaret (the late
Mrs John R. Stewart, of Renfrew);
John, who died in 1844, when abont ten
years of age ; Duncan, the well-known
stock-farmer of Bromley township;
Malcolm, of Maynooth, in Hastings
county ; and Christina, who died in
infancy. To the 100 acres originally
purchased by James McLaren, Robert
afterwards added 100 more to the
east.

Another ot the old families of the
district may fairly be credited to
this 18401850 period ; though during
this decade they were not perm-nent-

ly residents of the part which was
afterwards to become the town. In
1834, a young man emigrated from
Temple House, County Sligo, Ireland,
to ¢ By-town,” now Ottawa. This
was Matthew Devine, the eldest of
the family. In a few years he had
followed the spread of population
along the Ottawa river, and kept a
‘“stopping place” or hotel at Hub-
bell’s Falls, now known as Galetta.
In 1842 he came on further westward,
and settled in Renfrew. It does not
seem certain at this day where he
first dwelt,—whether up the river a
mile or two above where the town
now is, on what is now Rouselle’s
farm, or whether it was in a house
just below or north of that in which
Laurence O'Rielly kept hotel. The
weight of evidence seems to be that it
was in the house by the riverside that
he first dwelt, and afterwards, when
he came back to'Renfrew, in the
building near the foot of Main street.
In the spring of 1843, Mr Devine was
induced by Gerard Nagle, then Super-
intendent of Government Works, to
go with him to Des Joachims, where
the dams and slides were to be built.
In December of that year Mrs Devine
died, and Mr Devine as soon as pos-
sible thereafter returned to Renfrew
and lived here countinuously until
1850, when he moved to the Madawas-
ka country, in the neighborhood of

Springtown.  Matthew was accom-
panied to this district by his sister
Mary, who settled at the Chats.

Felix also came out in the early 40
period, staying for a time with his .
sister and brother, then settling at
Springtown, and becoming a perman-
ent resident of Renfrew again in 1864.
Their Lhirrother Andrew, with his wife
and their eldest child John, came out
in the '40s, stayed a short time at the
Chats, then a year or two at Sand
Point, and then came on and settled
on the Pinnacle farm, which was their
home for so many years before they re-
tired and came into Renfrew to
live. In 1847, the younger brothers,
Patrick and Johin, also came out to
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this country, accompanied by their
mother and sister. The mother died
and was buried at sea, the sister died
during quarantine at Quebec. Patrick
attended school in the village for a
year or so, and afterwards joined his
brother Felix in business in Renfrew,
as did also John, after farming many
years in Horton.

This story has so far taken on an al-
most statistical dryness in recording
the coming of the settlers; and sonie
of our readers may have lamented the
absence of a inore anecdoctal descrip-
tion of the habits and methods of ‘the
people of the young community. It
is the intention of the writer—having
brought the story up to the half-cen-
tury mark,—to look backwards again,
and in separate chapters tell the story
of the development of the roads, and
schools, and churches, and industries
of the district, as well as of its munici-
pal affairs. But before commencing
these chapters, it is desired to as far
as possible complete the list of
those who were in the village and im-
mediately surrounding country before
the 1850 period. Already it has been
discovered that two or three families
not so far mentioned should have
been included in the list; and there
may be others. We will be pleased if
any of our readers whose families
were hereabouts before 1850, or who
know of any others swho were here be-
fore that time and have not heen men-
tioned, will give us the information
at once,

Meantime we here introduce from
a book written about the year 1850 by
W. H. Smith, describing the
counties of Lanark and Renfrew as
they then were, from the standpoints
of population and farm development,
the following extracts : which to some
extent round out the statistical nature
of the story up to this point :—

Five wmiles west from White Lake
is the village of Burnstown, romantic-
ally sitnated on the Madawaska, near
the western corner of the township of

McNab. It is a new settlement, form-
ed at the point where the main tra-
velled road through this section of
conntry is crossed by another leading
from Sand Point on the Ottawa to
Mount St. Patrick and the country in
the rear. Burnstown overhangs a
very deep precipitons valley ot the
Madawaska, which river is crossed by
a bridge, and on the other side is a
very diftficult pass. The Madawaska
here presents a view truly American
in wildness. The waters bear a dark
and turgid aspect, and are character-
istically set_ off by lofty precipitous
banks, covered by dark brown woods
which flank them on both sides.
Down the Madawaska immense quan-
tities of pine timber are now hrought.
In the early progress of operations on
the Ottawa, the Madawaska being
considered nnusnally dangerous, even
for lumber navigation, lumbermen
were deterred from venturing upon it,
hence it is that, notwithstanding its
comparative vicinity to market, un-
til about fifteen years ago, no timber
was taken ont of its valley. At
length a few enterprising individuals
made ventures. More recently gov-
ernment took the matter in hand, and
the river is now passable.

Burnstown contains a grist mill,
and the registrar for the county of
Renfrew keeps his office here.

The township of McNab in 1842
contained but 728 inhabitants, and
in 1845, 3,195 acres were under culti-
vation. In 1850 the population had
increased to 1,653; 5,091 acres
under cultivation, there were one
grist and two saw wills in the town-
ship, and 7,400 bushels of wheat,
6,500 hushels of oats, 18,900 hushels
of potatoes, 12,000 pounds of maple
sugar, and 2,500 pounds of butter
were produced from the crop of 1849.

To the southwest of McNab is the
township of Bagot. It is but little
settled, and in 1850 contained only
670 inhabitants, and there were one
grist mill and two saw mills in the
township. The produce raised was

were
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not worth quoting. Blythefield, to
the southwest of Bagot, is still less
settled, and in 1850 only contained
121 inhabitants.

About eight miles from Burnstown,
near the southwestern boundary of the
township of Horton, is the village of
Renfrew. It is twenty-five miles from
Pakenham, and it is situated on the
Bonnechere. It contains a grist mill,
saw mill, foundry, tannery, carding
mill and post office. There are also
two churches, Presbyterian and Ro-
man Catholie, a grammar school, and
the crown lands agent for the county
of Renfrew keeps his oftice here. Al-
though a small place, a considerable
amount of business is transacted in
the village, and large quantities of
potash are exported. There is here a
magnuificent fall of water, called by
lumbermen the second chute of the
Bonnechere. The property belongs to
parties in England, and the absence
of the proprietors is said to check
its progress.

Horton is gradually settling up. In
1842 it contained 544 inhabitants, and
in 1845, 2,181 acres were under culti-
vation. In 1850 the population had
increased to 1,048, 3,768 acres were
under cultivation, and 7,300 bushels
of wheat, 6,000 bushels of oats, 10.-
800 bushels of potatoes, and 2,300
bushels of turnips were produced
from the crop of 1849.

To the southwest of Horton is the
township of Admaston ; it is a large
township and but little settled. In
1850 it only contained 361 inhabi-
tants ; it is watered by the Bonne-

chere, and by tributaries of the Mada-
waska.

To the northwest of Horton is the
township of Ross, which is also thin-
ly settled. In 1850 it only contained
575 inhabitants. To the southwest of
Ross is the township of Bromley. It
is but little settled, only containing
640 inhabitants in 1850. There are
two saw mills in the township, and a
settlement has lately been started on
the Bonnechere, which is called Pal-
merston ; it has a post office, etc.

Bonnechere Pojnt and Sand Point
on the Ottawa, although not arrived
at the dignity of villages, are never-
theless shipping places of some im-
portance,

About twenty miles northwest from
Renfrew village is a settlement called
Cobden, a name intended to illus-
trate its proprietor’s admiration for
free trade. It is sitnated at the
head of Muskrat Lake, in the south
of the township of Westmeath, and
has been commeunced about two
years. A road has been formed from
the lake to the Ottawa below Calu-
met Island, and a line of stage wag-
gons placed on the route. On the
first opening of the line of communi-
cation row boats were placed on the
Muskrat to convey passengers and
goods to Pembroke, but during the
present season a small steamer has
been substituted. This is intended to
be replaced by one of a superior class
next year. All goods and passengers
for the Ottawa above Portage du
Fort are now carried along this line,
A post office has been established at
the village.



THE EARLY ROADWAYS.

In the preceding chapters of the
Story has bLeen told the tale of the
gradual settlement of the community,
fromy the coming of the first white
man in the early ’20s, to the time
when it had almost reached the status
of a village. While the establishment
of schools and churches mark the
growth of the intelligence of a con-
munity, the roads and flouring mills
come even earlier in its development.
At first, as has been heretofore noted,
the settlers traded for the most part
at Perth. For four or five years, the
Airths and the families which im-
mediately followed them made their
way to Perth on foot. Then came
the sign of growing wealth on the
part of the individual, and of easier
transportation methods for the com-
munity—the ox team; and then,
shortly afterwards, horses were in-
ported. Mr David Airth fixes the
time of the coming of the first horse
to Renfrew as *‘ the year of the Papi-
neau rebellion.” His father, having
made a good sale of potash at Mont-
real, decided that he would invest in
a horse, and brought one back with
him. Just about the same time, the
Knight and Martin families also be-
came the proud possessors of equines.

Naturally, travelling to Perth on
foot, the settlers first trod on high-
ways which were more pathways
than roadways. The first ‘ blazed
pathway ” travelled by Renfrewites
was that to Goshen. It started at the
upper end of Thos. McLean’s property,
or just at the Dominion House corner,
and travelled along about the present
line of the Canada Atlantic railway to

the south-west of the Fair grounds
till it reached where Mr D. Airth’s
stone house now stands. Then it
strick off towards the Martin farm,
a little south of where the Martin
house is to-day, and angled on through
the McGregor and McArthur proper-
ties. From there the pathway took
on more of a rondway form, and went
by a fairly straight course down by
the McNab “ big meadow” to the
water side about two miles from
Sand Point.

Another roadway from the upper
part of the town was that headed for
Burnstown, where there was a small
store. This road started about where
Dean’s store now is, branched down
to the vicinity where Smith’s grist
mill stands to-day, then up on to the
high ground in rear of Mr A. A.
Wright’s vesidence as far as the pro-
perty known for so manv years as
“Granny MecDougall's.,” From that
house it angled across by the Wallace
property on Thomson’s hill to Mr
John Park’s, then crossed to the left
around the McLaren swamp, took an-
other turn to the right so as to cross
the Creek at Farquharson’s Rapids;
and then crossed and re-crossed the
present course of the Burnstown
road in a course of remarkable sinuo-
sity. It can be readily understood
that, in that day of few settlers, travel
followed the easiest, and to the ex-
tent that it was the. driest, the high-
est course. It would be about 1832 or
1833 that the first efforts were made
to straighten the Burnstown roadway,
and it gradually assumed the straight-
er conrse of to-day.
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The first road leading to the swest,
or into what afterwards became the
township of Admaston left the vil-
lage land along by the now old cheese
factory, a little east of the present
bridge leading up Carswell’s hill ; and
instead of mounting the rocks between
the properties of Messrs James and
Robert Carswell as it does to-day, it
avoided the rocks by swinging around
them to the left, or about where Mr
Robert Carswell’'s house is  now,
Fromn there the road branched off as
nearly straight as the lie of the land
would allow in the direction of the fine
grove of pines on the Dunu farm, and
a few of which still raise high their
heads. From that point, for some
years, there was no regular roadway ;
simply a winding track leading from
neighbor’s place to neighbor’s,

The people who lived on the vorth
side of the Bonnechere had no easy
way of getting into the village. For
niany years they had ta cross the
river at the *“Flat Rapids™ down by
the Gibbons property. Some of the
old-timers still remember how much
the early settlers were indebted to
the kindness of Mr J. B. Gibbons and
others of the family. They had a
boat at the rapids, and when wany of
the north side people wished to get
over into civilization, they would
stand on the north bank and shout,
until they caught the attention of
some one on the Gibbons place. Then
the boat would be taken over and the
traveller brought to the south side.

Of course this was all before the
day of municipal organization, and
there was no system of road-making.
The work was done by voluuteer
labor entirely ; the  willing horse”
as always doing the most.

How large a share the opening of
the roadways occupied in the munici-
pal life of these early days a perusal of
the minutes of the municipal councils
serve to show. Unfortunately, we
have not yet been able to discover
the first minute hook of the town-
ship of Horton, and so are not able to

fix many an intevesting action and
date in road-bhuilding enterprises,

Mr John Smith relates to us one
circumstance—how the first bridge
was built across the Bonnechere river
at the village, at just about the same
spot where the iron bridge stands to-
day. In those eatly days, as for near-
ly thirty years afterwards, the
shantymen, as they went to the woods
in the autumn or to the ‘‘drives”in
the spring, would load theniselves
heavily with spirituous liquors, and
frequently managed to stir up a fight
with the villagers at the different set-
tled points along their route. Un
this particular occasion, one of the
gangs going into the woods for the
Conrov firm made trouble in Horton.
At the Hobbs farm, they raised a
melee and cracked some bones. The
neighbors were aroused; and Mr
Smith, then about a couple of years a
resident of the village, has a distinct
recollection of seeing about i dozen of
the men of Horton, armed with guns
and headed by Mr Frank Edwards,
hurrying through the village to the
west. They were after the gang of
shantyunien who had committed the
assanlt. These were overhauled
somewhere in the vicinity of Moore’s
mills in Admaston. It is remember-
ed that, sonie of the shantymen start-
ing to run away as their pursuers ap-
proached, the cooler heads in the at-
tacking party had difficulty in re-
straining some of their heated com-
panions from firing on the fleeing
woodsmen. The latter were all cap-
tured, however, and brought before
John Lorn McDougall, J.P. He fined
them #£10 apiece, and applied the
fines to the building of the fist
Bounechere bridge at Renfrew. The
bridge was mounted on triangular
wooden piers, with the sharp edge up-
strewun, to break the ice and guide the
logs coming down-stream. Some of
the people remonstrated with the J.P.
for the severity of the fine; but with
many a Gaelic exclamation he im-
pressed that it would do the trans-
gressors more good to touch their



THE STORY OF RENFREW, 19

pockets heavily than it would to send
them to Perth jail.

Ask any of the old timers, when
Samuel Francis or Wm. Roberts or
Wm. Logan came to Renfrew, and
the answer at first will almost certain-
Iy he a question—When was the Divi-
sion of Sons of Temperance organized?
Thus inseparably are the names of
these pioneers associated with the
forming of that organization, which
has had such etfect in leavening pub-
lic opinion in the years that have
followed. The Sons were not organ-
ized till 1852, but Samuel Francis
at least was a resident some consider-
able timme before that, He came in
1850, if not even in the latter part of
1849. He was a native of Armagh,
Ireland, and in 1827, when Samuel
was twelve years old, his father
removed to Canada, to Kilinar-
nock on the Rideaun. At Merrickville,
Samuel learned the trade of axe maker,
and came on to Reunfrew in 1849 or
1850. Most of those spoken to nowa-
days, think of Mr Francis as first re-
siding just sonth of Smith’s Creek,
but it is almost certain that before
moving to that point, he lived in a
house somewhere near where Mr P.
Dougal’s carriage shop now is, and
there his eldest son (now the Very
Rev. Arthur V. Francis, of Muskogee,
Ind. Ter.,) was born in May, 1851.
Shortly afterwards Mr Francis moved
to the rough-cast house now
owned by Mr Wm. Hasrings, and
which was a few years ago moved
from the right hand to the left hand
side of the road leading south of
Smith’s Creek bridge. Somewhat
closer to the edge of the creek, Mr
Francis built a small axe factory, in
which Mr Wm. Roberts was his assis-
tant. About five years later, he
bought property down by the river,
built the honse now known as ‘“Val-
ley Cottage,” and the stone axe fac-
tory which stood for so many years at
the end of the flume at the north side
of the Bonnechere river. As noted
above, Mr Francis was a moving
spirit in the organization of The Sons,

and was also a prime mover in the
institution of Renfrew’s first brass
band, and was one of its first players.

Another of the pioneers of the 40
period was Henry Groves. He was a
Dublin man, and a member of the
Dublin city patrol. He emigrated to
Canada, and became one of the early
settlers in Admaston, where he farm-
ed for a time. Then he removed to
Renfrew, and kept an hotel, which
stood just sonth of where the Faich-
ney-Thompson blacksmith shop then
stood, where Dean’s store now is.
Many of this generation will remem-
ber his rough-cast building, with its

Swiss cottage like verandah. This
was burned down sometime in the
seventies. Mr Groves had other

property in the town, which for a
long time bore his name, notably that
owned now by My Jas. Carswell,
opposite Mr S. Moffat’s residence.
His only daughter became the wife of
the late Patrick Kelly, for many
vears the proprietor of The British
Hotel, and now is the wife of Mr G.
A. Becker, proprietor of the same
hotel.

Another family which can fairly be
classed among the pioneers of Ren-
frew, though not actually settlers in
the town till a later period, was that
of Donald Stewart. He was a relative
by marriage of the James Stewart
who had settled in Horton in 1830,
and Donald and his wife and tive sons
—John, Duncan, James, Donald and
Peter—and one daughter—mow Mrs
David Farquharson,—spent a few
days with their Cousins Stewart on
the Second Line, when they first
arrived in Renfrew, The new settler
had an excellent offer made to him to
remain in the growing village—a tine
option on the property of Mr Saddler,
—bnt Donald did not think that a
town was a good place for the bring-
ing up of growing boys : and resolute-
ly carried out his intention of settling
on a farm. He went np into Admas-
ton, and for ten years remained on
the property which is now occupied
by Richard Munhall. Then he moved
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nearer the towu: purchasing from
Wm. Montgomery the farm in Horton
now occupied by his son Duncan, for
many years the Reeve of the town-
ship. The sons were wont to tell
their father that he had made a mis-
take in not accepting the offer to re-
main in the village when he came to
the country first. At all events,
several of them moved on into town
and business life. James and Peter
have been prominent figures in the
mercantile, municipal and edncational
circles of the town for many years,
Another pioneer of the 40-50 period
hitherto not spoken of was a French-
man, named in English, Pelaw. He
lived down by the river bank, ahout
where the mills are. Mr David Barr
remembers him well, throngh a
personal incident. Down on
the river bank, bhelow the Pelaw
residence, grew wild plums. Mr
Barr and &  comrade—then in
some degree embryo Single-Taxers,
-—thought the plums were common
property. Mr Pelaw had different
ideas. He thought propinquity made
ownership. The boys went after the
plums, and Pelaw then went after the
hoys. They had bnt one way to get
home without crossing his path.
They stripped their clothes, tied them
to their backs, and swam the river at

Butternnt Point. Hence Mr Barr
has reason to remember Pelaw, He
was, as far as known, a slide, or flume-
master for Hon. Jas. Skead.

The notice of the death of James
Stirling in Illinois, in another eolumn
of this issue, brings to view uanother
who if not a resident of the village in
the late 40 period, was it least souie-
what connected with it. He had
come from Lanark couanty, and car-
ried the mails through this section of
country. He started at Bonnechere
Point, where the post office was kept
by the O’Neil family, and rode on
horseback to the post oftice which did
duty for Renfrew, though it was sit-
uated some miles from what is now
the town, This was at Greenlaw, the
farm now occupied by Mr Archibald
Smith, but then owned by Registrar
James Morris, father of Mrs George
Ross, of town, and of the late Sheriff
Morris. Mrv Morris kept the post of-
fice, and the pigeon-holes and safe
built into the walls have never been
removed, but still are an interesting
decoration of Mr Smith’s home.
From Greenlaw, Mr Stirling rode on
with the mail to the White Lake post
office then presided over by Mr Paris.
From this point another carrier did
duty in carrying the mail to and from
By-town.

T —



THE EARLY CHURCHES AND PREACHERS.

Before there were settlers in Ren-
frew there were Indians encamped at
Golden Lake. It is quite possible
therefore that with the missionary
zeal which characterized the priests of
the Roman Catliolic Church in seek-
ing to Christianize the aborigines, some
Father of that denomination first set
foot in the Bonnechere - distriet of
Renfrew county. But so far as the
community now known as Renfrew is
concerned, the credit of sending the
first missionary belongs to the Metho-
dist Episcopals. At this late day it is
not known just what brought Rev.
Mr Maitland to the early settlement,
but it is thought that Mrs Mayhew,
mother of Mr Elkanah Mayhew, our
present citizen, was possibly responsi-
ble for it. She was a devoted inember
of that denomination : and she had a
son whom she desired to have bap-
tized. This, whether it was the
motive for his coming or not, was one
of the first duties of Mr Maitland. He
preached in the log barn on the Mec-
Lean property, then tenanted by the
Airth family., He came a few times,
and was followed by Reverends Man-
ley, Bearney, Stephen Brownell, West,
Manson, Howe, Williams, Pomeroy,
Sparrow and Maston. In just what
years these pioneer preachers journey-
ed to and fro in the district is not now
definitely rewembered. Probably
Sparrow